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This section is not a geological survey of Australia, but rather an attempt to 
find which stones were used or preferred at which dates and which locations.  
Especially interesting are those which were exported from one place to 
another, because the cost and effort involved reflect a serious preference.  
 

a. early history 
 
In 1629 survivors from the shipwreck of the Batavia built two huts or forts on 

West Wallabi Island in the Houtman Abrolhos, 400 km north of Fremantle, 
and the remains of these are the oldest in situ European buildings in the 

country.   They were designed principally to defend the occupants of Wallabi 
Island, led by Wiebbe Hayes, from the rival party led by the murderous 
Jeronimus Cornelisz, but would also have been used as shelters.  One is in 
the form of a long rectangle with rounded corners an a division across the 
centre.  The other is a smaller structure in the form of a shorter rectangle with 
a doorway, and is better formed, with sharper corners.  The walls of both are 
built of slabs of laminar limestone laid dry, about 0.6 to 0.8 m high, and they 
must have been roofed, probably with spars and sailcloth.

1
  The oldest 

European stone structure of any architectural pretension is one that arrived 
fortuitously on the same ship, the Batavia.  It is an entrance portal 

prefabricated in 1628 of stone quarried in Lower Saxony and despatched for 
use in the Dutch East Indies.  Along with a substantial part of the ship itself, 
has now been recovered from the seabed and reconstructed at Fremantle.

2
   

 
There is not necessarily any distinction to be made between the Aboriginal 
stonework and the most primitive constructions of the Europeans, such as 
those at White Hills, Central Australia.  European miners had travelled 
hundreds of kilometres to reach this site, by foot, camel or bicycle, but it is 
possible that they built only the more pretentious rectangular buildings, of 
which the ruins also survive.  Aborigines living on the fringe of the settlement, 
or occupying it during its later phase as a mission, may have been 
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responsible for the more Neolithic-looking remains.  Most of the stone circles 
were probably only the lower part of some sort of brush hut (whether of 
Aboriginal or of European construction), or were built around the bases of 
European tents to protect or weigh down the edges.  The question must arise, 
however, if these relatively modern remains are so equivocal, how confident 
can we be of our interpretation of sites like Lake Condah - or indeed of much 
earlier Palæolithic and Neolithic sites in other parts of the world? 
 
Dry stone walling is fairly widespread, especially in western Victoria and in 
South Australia, but of marginal relevance to the building industry proper, and 
usually more or less undocumented and undatable.  The earliest documented 
dry walling was built in 1856 on various parts of the Manifolds' Purrumbete 
run in western Victoria, most of it at a cost of three shillings a rod [4.95 m], 
and mainly as stock fences along the run boundaries.

3
   Travelling through 

the area in 1857 James Bonwick 'saw a stone wall miles in length four or five 
feet [1.2 - 1.5 m] high and two [0.6 m] broad'.

4
  There is a single length of 

sixty-five kilometres along the ridge of Camel's Hump Range and Brown Hills 
Range, South Australia, apparently built after 1864-67 when the first freehold 
grants were made in the hundreds of Anne and Ayers, initiated by one of the 
settlers, Scott or Browne, and continued by others according to the nature of 
the stone available on the spot.

5
  By the late 1870s squatters were having 

rabbit-proof walls, more substantial than the earlier ones, built to control the 
recent rabbit infestations.  The ground was excavated to bedrock, and the 
wall built off this, so that rabbits could not get under.  The biggest rabbit-proof 
fence, on the western edge of the Stony Rises, was over 1.8 m high and 0.9 
metres thick at the base.

6
  

 
Squatters were generally not disposed to build solid houses before they had 
freehold tenure, a fact which immediately dissipates many myths based upon 
the assumption that homesteads were built at the same date that the relevant 
squatting licences were taken out.  However, where stone was the most 
readily available and convenient material, especially in the form of floaters

7
 or 

boulders, it might well be used.  Thus Lady Jane Franklin commented in 1837 
that one Green, to the north of Melbourne, had a new house built of stones 
'picked up nearby', and containing a room 10.5 metres long.

8
  In western 

Victoria the Manifold brothers were building a stone house at 'Purrumbete' by 
1848.

9
  Some substantial farm buildings of 1849 to 1852 survive, but they are 
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of squared honeycomb bluestone from the surface, rather than fully dressed 
stone from quarries.

10
  More exceptionally Orr's 'Stratford Lodge' at Metcalfe 

is a rubble granite building claimed to do date from about 1848.  In Western 
Australia field stones finished in mud plaster and lime wash were used from 
1850 at the New Norcia Mission. 
 
 
 

b. local freestones 
 
That there are distinctive building traditions characteristic of the areas where 
particular stones are found, is more or less self-evident.  The conventional 
sandstones are predictable, and are used in both vernacular and formal 
buildings, as are a few limestones, granites and other types.  At Sydney a 
sandstone quarry was opened on the eastern side of Bennelong Point within 
a few weeks of landing.

11
  Governor Phillip reported in May 1788 that there 

were three sorts of stone, a freestone 'which appears equal in goodness to 
that if Portland', an indifferent sandstone or 'ironstone', and another stone 
which contained a high proportion of iron.

12
  He further stated in July that 'the 

stone is good, but [we] do not find either limestone or chalk'.
13

  By 1803-5 the 
Sydney Gazette could report that a number of stone structures had been 

built,
14

 and by 1821 6% of Sydney buildings were of stone.
15

  The most 
prominent Sydney quarries were to be those at Pyrmont, producing a stone 
which was described as being of medium structure and comparable to some 
of the well-known Scottish freestones, and the Hawkesbury sandstone 
deposits in the neighbourhood of the city were also extensively worked.

16
  By 

the 1820s the government was quarrying stone at Goat Island for the 
construction of the Government House extensions and the Darlinghurst 
Gaol.

17
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Towards 1820, it appears, paving stone was sent from Sydney to Batavia 
[Jakarta],

18
 and as will appear below, Sydney stone was later exported in 

quantity to Victoria and other colonies.  More remarkably, it reached 
California, where it was used in 1851 to build the Jenny Lind Theatre, which 
was subsequently converted to become San Francisco's City Hall.

19
  Sydney 

stone continued to be exported into the twentieth century, and will be further 
discussed in the context of the intercolonial trade. 
 
There were other quarries in the hinterland, including Marulan, which 
provided the sandstone for the portico at Camden Park from 1832.

20
  In about 

1834 Marulan limestone was used in the entrance hall, stair hall and upstairs 
chimneypieces at 'Tarmons', Darlinghurst.

21
  Three of the less important 

chimneypieces supplied for the Lyndhurst bedrooms in 1835 were not of 
marble but of 'stone',

22
 in fact the Marulan limestone, and at least one 

survives.
23

  Next, Marulan sandstone chimneypieces were installed in the 
main hall and the dining room of Government House, Sydney, of 1836-43.

24
  

There was also a limestone 'beautifully grained, like dark marble, suitable for 
chimney-pieces and ornamental slabs' at Cadell's property 'Ben Bullen' on the 
Turon.

25
  Sandstone from Ravenswood was used for a warehouse at West 

Maitland,
26

 of which only the ground floor remains today, and for St Mary's 
Church, West Maitland.

27
 

 
In Queensland as early as 1828 Charles Frazer reported the existence of 
freestone eighteen kilometres upstream from Brisbane 'of excellent quality, 
granular, and when cut it is quite soft, but on exposure becomes as hard as 
granite.'

28
  This was doubtless the Ipswich stone which, together with that 

from nearby Woogaroo (Goodna), was the staple until the 1840s.
29
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Woogaroo continued to be exploited in subsequent decades, providing some 
of the stone for Parliament House in 1865,

30
 and for the Supreme Court 

building in about 1878.
31

  The contractor Joshua Jeays established his own 
quarry there.  In the town itself the Roma Street quarry was opened in convict 
times and worked until about 1850.

32
  During the 1850s John Petrie bought a 

quarry site at Albion, and in the 1860s this supplied further stone for 
Parliament House, after Jeays failed and the Petries took over the contract.

33
  

It was again used for the General Post Office of 1871-9, together with stone 
from Murphy's Creek,

34
 and the same two stones were used in the Customs 

House in 1886-9.
35

  Murphy's Creek stone alone was used for the Supreme 
Court

36
 and (with Oamaru dressings) for the National Bank of Queensland 

building of 1881-5.
37

 
 
The Albion quarry continued until the end of the century, but the government 
bought the Highfield quarry near Toowoomba to supply its own building 
projects. It was used, together with 'Pearson's brown stone' in the first wing of 
the  Public Offices ('Treasury') building in 1885.

38
  The Helidon stone, 

obtained a little over a hundred kilometres from the city,
39

 is said to have 
been used in 1887 for Andrea Stombuco's house 'Sans Souci' (now 'Palma 
Rosa'), at Hamilton.

40
  This seems doubtful, but it was later used in the 

Treasury and, in the form of rubbed ashlar, in Brisbane Railway Station.  
Another stone, Yan Gan, was used in the Lands Office.

41
  The range of 

suitable building sandstones within reach of Brisbane was considerable, and 
a select committee of Parliament, which reported in 1888 on quarries in the 
southern district of the colony, mentioned those around Brisbane at Moggill, 
Grandchester, Gatton, Grantham, Helidon, Murphy's Creek, Highfields and 
Mount Stuart, in addition to others around Logan Village and Beaudesert.

42
  

However - at least after the 1880s - for climatic and transport reasons stone 
was not much used in Queensland for other than major public buildings. 
 
Tasmania had a succession of sandstone quarries at Kangaroo point, Point 
Ventenat, Bruni Island and elsewhere, and the products were used fairly 
extensively in local buildings as well as exported (as will be discussed below).  
As early as 1850 a hearthstone was included in a consignment of building 
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materials and portable houses exported from Hobart to California on the 
Elizabeth Starbuck.

43
   

 
South Australia generally lacked good freestone, though it had marble in 
quantity, and plenty of stone suitable for rubble work.  In 1845 Robert 
Sanders's store in King William Street, Adelaide, was provided with a 'unique 
Italian front of wrought freestone', designed by the architect W D James.

44
 

This seems likely to have been a local stone, possibly from Hallett & Duff's  
freestone quarry, which was in operation by 1840.

45
  In 1856 a specimen of 

'highly-wrought freestone' from Glen Ewin was displayed at the Agricultural 
and Horticultural Society Show.

46
  A quarry was opened at Glem Ewin in 

1863, and it was later leased to the architect Thomas English.
47

  There were 
other local stones good enough for local purposes, as at the Burra Mine 
Quarry, the stone from which was recommended in 1878 for use in the Bank 
of Australasia branch at Kooringa.

48
  In the twentieth century Murray Bridge 

and Waikerie sandstones were marketed much father afield by Standard 
Quarries.

49
  A facing of pinkish-grey sandstone from the Adelaide Hills was 

used on the end wing of the Cheltenham Racecourse administration building 
in 1956.

50
 

 
Victoria was also endowed with a rich variety of sandstones, few of which 
were of any use.  In 1839 the local ferruginuious sandstone - coarse and 
irregular though it is - was used for St James's Church, Melbourne, and soon 
after for the Customs House and Gaol, apparenty because it was diffficult and 
expensive to work. In 1845 basalt was first chosen for the Melbourne 
Hospital, and then discarded in favour of sandstone, on the grounds of cost.

51
  

In 1858 the Government offered a prize for the discovery of a stone suitable 
for use in the new Parliament House, but all it produced was a sandstone 
from Bacchus Marsh which had been in intermittent local use since 1845.  A 
commercial operation, the Victoria Quarries, was now begun by the Matson 
Brothers, and the stone was used in some major buildings, including the 
Treasury, Spring Street, where it has caused problems ever since.  It was not 
necessary to use it for Parliament House because the Darley stone was 
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discovered in the nick of time,
52

 and the east or Library frontage was 
executed in this.  The new discovery doomed the Bacchus Marsh quarry to 
closure, as Matson wrote 

 
after an outlay of some thousands other [stone] was found on Govt. land 
in consequence of which we are informed it will in future be taken from 
thence & when the Treasury is completed, as we cannot compete with 
the Govt. our quarries must be closed, the private demand for stone 
being inadequate to their support.

53
 

   
Unfortunately the Darley stone, which was obtained not far from Bacchus 
Marsh, was of a similar type and developed the same defects.  In 1868 some 
local use was made of Mount Sturgeon stone for flagging,

54
 but it was not 

until the Heatherlie quarries were opened at the other end of the Grampians 
that a stone suitable for the Houses of Parliament became available. 
 
The interesting part of this story, however, is the development of more or less 
scientific testing methods which occurred in association with the original 
competition, and with efforts to maintain quality control in the quarried stone.  
This will be discussed below.  A reasonably durable stone appeared in 
Victoria only with opening up of the Mount Difficult quarry in the 1880s, 
producing the 'Stawell stone' which is used on the west front of Parliament 
House, and in the twentieth century was sold by Standard Quarries.

55
  The 

Western Australian Donnybrook stone was used for the Commonwealth 
Government Offices in  Mounts Bay Road, Perth, but supplies abruptly ran 
out and the builder could find no stone to match it, so he ended up importing 
Sydney stone and bleaching it to reduce variations in colour.

56
  

 
 

c. local limestones 
 
Limestone came in more varied forms than any other.  Coral - if that can be 
called limestone -was used for rubble construction in those places where it 
was available.  On Norfolk Island calcarenite, a limestone made up of small 
grains resembling sand, was used, but it was of much better quality when 
quarried below seawater, and this necessitated much arduous work for the 

convict labourers and led to some deaths by drowning.  A limestone quarry 
was opened in Hobart in 1816, and the stone had been discovered in other 
locations as well, but it was used mainly for lime burning rather than 
masonry.

57
  In Western Australia the Cottesloe shell limestone was used in 
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the Perth area, and a superior quality stone was quarried on Rottnest 
Island.

58
   

 
Adelaide had a higher proportion of stone buildings than any of the other 
colonial capitals.  Here, as Robert Gouger reported: 

 
more than half the town ... being upon a bed of limestone, the 
proprietors of that portion, by simply removing the earth to a depth of 
about two feet [0.6 m], find not only stone wherewith to build, but 
limestone whereof to burn their lime. Thus, there is a great facility for 
building, and that in a very substantial way.

59
 

 
Also in Adelaide, and elsewhere in South Australia, much ordinary building is 

done in the local 'bluestone', a slate or shale.  It was laid as random or 
coursed rubble, or as ashlar with various forms of brick or other dressing as 
will be discussed below, as indeed is the local limestone.  The South 
Australian tradition of stone building was reinforced by the shortage of timber 
in many areas of the colony.   Thomas Allen reported that at Curtain Point 

 
There is a most useful white stone equal in quality to the Bath stone in 
England, which could be easily worked with the saw and chisel, and is 
most proper for building houses as it becomes much hardened by being 
exposed to the atmosphere. Here is also a black sort of stone, in 
appearance like coal, which will split into thin plates, and would answer 
the purpose of covering to houses as slates. There is also abundance of 
stone for lime, which seems of very good quality, and likely to be very 
durable

 60
 

 
This tradition was inherited by the Northern Territory, were timber was widely 
available, but where, nevertheless, stone was the readiest material for 
buildings of architectural pretension.  This seems to explain the somewhat 
surprising use of stone in a tropical climate, for the Government Residency at 
Darwin in 1871,

61
 for a number of Overland Telegraph stations at about this 

time,
62

 and later for the various public buildings in Darwin designed by the 
architect J G Knight.  By 1880 the problem of white ant had proved so 
intractable that it was government policy to build only in stone (which at 
Darwin means sandstone), with 'concrete floors faced with Portland cement', 

or in corrugated iron on a cypress pine frame.
63

  In Western Australia similar 
combinations of limestone with brick dressings are found for example in 
Fremantle, where George Seddon has acutely observed that the practice 
becomes normal after the railway connection in 1886.  Before that time bricks 
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were too expensive to obtain, and quoins were normally in limestone, though 
in larger and better dressed pieces than the body work.

64
 

   
In Victoria the Waurn Ponds limestone and Barrabool Hills sandstone were 
used extensively in their own areas, but also used together in major buildings, 
the Barrabool for wall facing and the Waurn Ponds for dressings.  This was 
the combination in St Paul's Cathedral, the Melbourne Technical College, and 
Ormond College, Melbourne.

65
  In the 1930s Standard Quarries were 

marketing a sandstone of unspecified (but local) origin, as 'Riplstone'.
66

  At 
Point Nepean  the local limestone was so extensively used as to institute a 
local school of building, but of too poor a quality to be exported elsewhere. 
 
Limestone offers special opportunities because it is soft when quarried and 
easily sawn, but hardens under exposure.  In south-eastern South Australia 
and south-western Victoria - from Robe to Port Fairy - there was a little school 
of limestone construction in the 1840s and 1850s, in which the sawn slabs 
were laid on edge as two leaves, with a rubble filling in between, not unlike 
the traditional Norman use of Caen limestone.  This can be seen at 
'Woodbine', Port Fairy, and in a primitive form at 'Cameron's place', the 
Coorong, South Australia (where the quoins and chimneys are slabs on edge, 
but the rest mainly rubble).

67
  Chimney flues are sometimes formed within the 

wall thickness, chimneystacks are generally set in flush with the external wall 
face, and there is a distinctive form of fireplace in which the flue carries down 
as a sort of trough in the fireback, closing on an angle about half way down.  
In 1857-8 the architect A Crouch of Mount Gambier is said to have made the 
first use of Mount Gambier polyzoal limestone,

68
 which is so soft, uniform and 

regularly sawn as to be more like a factitious material than a genuine stone in 
character.  
 
In 1880 an attempt was made to promote this stone, which was claimed to be 
identical with 'the celebrated Oamaru stone' of New Zealand, and to have 
stood for nearly twenty years in many houses at Port McDonnell. 
Inexhaustible supplies were to be found over a large area, but the principal 
quarry was to be found at the Hanging Rocks, in the Mount Gambier district, 
apparently the property of John Frew.  Specimens from this source had been 
brought to Adelaide by one Pitman, of Freeman Street, and it was calculated 
that it could be delivered to Melbourne for between 2 s 6 d and 3 s 0 d a cubic 
foot, as compared with 4 s 3 d for Oamaru stone.

69
  Nothing particular seems 

to  have come of this initiative, but the trade was actively promoted again in 
the 1920s by the Mt Gambier Limestone Quarrying & Building Co Pty Ltd.  
The blocks were cut in standard sizes of 4.5 x 12 x 24 inches [115 x 300 x 
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600 mm], suitable for cavity walls, and sent by rail to the Adelaide and 
Melbourne markets.  Almost any larger size could be cut if required.

70
  In the 

same year H D Annear was to use the Mount Gambier stone for the front of 
his infelicitous mansion 'Delgany', at Portsea, Victoria, together with local 
limestone from the demolished house for the rear portions.

71
  Another stone, 

which could be sawn like Mount Gambier stone but was said to be 30% 
harder, was discovered at Finniss and a quarry opened there in 1956.  It 
came in both white and pink.

72
 

 
 

d. basalt & granite 
 
The basalt of Melbourne and Western Victoria, known locally as 'bluestone', 
though unrelated to the South Australian stone of that name, is a very hard 
material which cannot easily be carved.  It was extensively used in plinths and 
base courses, often, but not always, rock faced.  But because it was gloomy 
in appearance and difficult to treat ornamentally, and also because it did not 
show the ornament to advantage when there was any, it was not much used 
in the body work of public buildings other than gaols and churches.  We have 
seen that it was rejected for the Melbourne Hospital in 1846, on the grounds 
of cost [of quarrying and working], but in that year a bluestone house was 
built for Dr Howitt,

73
 and the stone was also used on extensions to St James's 

Church at about this time. Despite its apparent homogeneity it varies 
considerably in quality.  There were quarries all around the western and 
northern parts of Melbourne, the Yarra River being effectively the edge of the 
lava flow, and the Footscray bluestone was amongst the most widely used for 
prominent works, such as St Patrick's Cathedral.  Other quarries were used 
for less important stone buildings, road metal and other purposes.   
 
Towards the end of the century most high grade stone was got at Malmsbury, 
though it was not as hard as that obtained at Lethbridge.

74
  The Malmsbury 

stone was used in the plinth of the E S & A Bank in Collins Street, of 1883-
7.

75
  In 1891 the architect W S Law specified walling in fine axed 'Coburg or 

Williamstown bluestone free from air holes, honeycomb or other defects', but 
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Malmsbury stone steps and flagging.
76

  The Malmsbury stone would be taken 
to Melbourne by rail, and on occasion exported by sea to the other colonies.   
By the mid-twentieth century, however, Standard Quarries dealt in basalt only 
from Footscray.

77
  Basalt is also found in New South Wales at Kiama, 

Dundas, Orange, Sterling (near Inverell) and elsewhere,
78

 though it was 
imported from Melbourne for major Sydney buildings.  It is also found in other 
places, such as northern Tasmania, and Toowoomba in Queensland.

79
   In 

Launceston the bluestone from Cataract Hill was used - apparently for the 
first time - in the basement level of the Cornwall Assurance Company office of 
1864-5.

80
 

 
At the Moreton Bay settlement in 1826 Charles Frazer described a 
'remarkably formed Porpharytic [sic?] Body, the Base of a light pink, with 

white spots.  It is remarkably hard, and breaks into square blocks.
81

  This was 
perhaps the porphyry used for Adelaide House, Ann Street, in 1853.

82
  There 

was also a material described as 'purple hardstone' from the Lutwyche 
quarries, which the Government Architect, J J Clark, proposed to use for the 
base of the Government Printery extension, after 1884, but it proved 
impossible to get 'the current colour'.

83
  By 1887 the Brisbane Municipal 

Council had bought the Spring Hill porphyry quarry, which it let out to a private 
contractor.

84
  Subsequently Queensland had the Enoggera and Greymare 

granites, the former especially containing pyrites, and therefore liable to iron 
staining.  In the 1920s a new granite was extracted on the property of Dr A H 
Marks at Camp Mountain, and was used for the basement levels of the 
Brisbane Town Hall.  It was examined by Professor H C Richards, who 
concluded that it was of the highest quality and bore favourable comparison 
with the world's best grey granites.

85
   

 
Victoria had small deposits of granite in the vicinity of Melbourne, which were 
used for building purposes in the first decades of settlement.  Many country 
areas, especially around Wangaratta produced more or less usable granite, 
but the only high quality material was at first that of the Harcourt quarries, 
which was extensively used for patent axed work, plinths and polished 
columns, though it contained black spots which are difficult to avoid in cutting 
a block of any size.  The grandest specimens were the six great columns in 
the public hall of the Melbourne Stock Exchange, each of which was 0.6 
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metres in diameter and took thirty horses to transport to Melbourne.
86

  By the 
1930s other good granites had been found, and Standard Quarries were 
selling Casterton grey, Harcourt grey, and Wangaratta pink and buff 
granites.

87
  Twenty tears later it was Casterton red rather than grey, and 

Dromana green had been added.  This new granite made a rather 
anachronistic appearance as the facing of the State Savings Bank Centre at 
the corner of Swanston Street and Post Office Place, Melbourne, in 1961.

88
 

 
New South Wales grey granite was used in areas like Young and Braidwood, 
but most prominent examples of granite are ornaments or facings to city 
buildings,

89
 such as the Moruya and Montague Island granite columns of the 

General Post Office
90

 and the Moruya granite columns of the Customs 
House, Sydney.

91
  Gabo Island, off the border with Victoria, produced a hard 

red granite or syenite which was used in some important buildings, but it too 
was mainly confined to detailed elements, such as the portico columns of the 
Treasury, Sydney.

92
  South Australia had a reddish granite from Murray 

Bridge, used in the base of the Savings Bank, Adelaide,
93

 and later a Murray 
Valley black granite.

94
  Granites were obtained in a number of areas of 

Western Australia, and the Kanowna stone, a sort of decomposed granite, 
was used in the Kalgoorlie public buildings, and in the Coolgardie district 
generally.

95
 

 
Generally, however, granite has been used only to a limited extent for 
structural walling.  It is slightly surprising to find a reference to its use in the 
1850s for walling in the form of parallel slabs on edge, as in the limestone 
construction discussed below.  At 'Ercildoune', Victoria, Andrew Learmonth 
urged his brother Tom 

 
that all stones be laid on their broadest surface - with your [?laminated] 
granite masons like to lay stones on edge and fill up the walls with 
anything - this is very much the case with the wall you had built in 1854 
which looked so well but is [faulty] ...

96
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e. local slate 
 
Both marble and slate were found in South Australia in 1836 by Johannes 
Menge, the South Australian Company's mineralogist,

97
 and the slate on 

Kangaroo Island was reported to be suitable for export.
98

  By 1839 C B 
Newenham was operating the Green Hill Slate and Flag Quarry near 
Adelaide.

99
  By June 1840 slates from Willunga were being exported to 

Sydney,
100

 and in February 1842 South Australian slte was reported to have 
reached Van Diemen's Land, where it was thought that its importation would 
prove to be 'of great advantage'.

101
  But this was presumably the same local 

slate as was used on the Legislative Chamber in Adelaide in 1843, and had 
to be replaced within months.

102
  Indeed in 1846 Willunga slate was reported 

to be so fragile as a roofing material that 'you might as safely tread on a 
skylight'.

103
 In 1873 there were four quarries at Willunga;  Martin's, Bastians, 

Kernick's, and the Delabole Slate Quarry, which had just been enlarged.
104

 It 
was thought that Willunga slate might improve with depth, and in any case 
would be good for flagging and slabs.  By the 1880s it was regarded as 
'possessing many good qualities' for such purposes.

105
 It was quarried into 

the twentieth century, and will be referred to again below.   
 
A much better slate for uses such as flagging, steps and mantelpieces - 
though not for roofing - was thought to be the Mintaro slate from Thomas 
Priest's quarry, opened in about 1860,

106
 and in the 1880s it was used to 

pave all the corridors and wet areas of Parliament House, Adelaide.
107

  
Mintaro slate though excellent, was very hard, and the cost of working it for a 
time prevented much being exported to the neighbouring colonies, but in 
1890 it was specified in the National Mutual Life Association headquarters, 
Melbourne, designed by the Adelaide architects Wright, Reed & Beaver.  It 
was here used in half and three quarter inch [13 & 19 mm] thicknesses for the 
flooring and shelving of strongrooms;  in 11/2 inch [38 mm] thickness for 
flooring the top floor 'earth space';  and in two inch [50 mm] thickness for 
external door sills, gallery flooring, stair landings, and basement flooring.

108
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By the turn of the century this slate was in wide demand in Australia generally 
for lavatory and other slabs, kerbing and paving.

109
 

 
Slate had been discovered in Van Diemen's Land by 1816,

110
 but it was 

probably of poor quality, for nothing more is heard until much later.  By the 
1880s a great deal of Melbourne money was being invested in a slate quarry 
on the Tamar, about thirty kilometres from Launceston, but the first products 
were not of a high quality, and the success of the venture was thought to 
depend upon the stone improving with depth

111
 - a favourite mantra with 

struggling quarrymen, just as with miners.  The lack of any further reports 
suggests that this improvement did not manifest itself.  In the early 1850s 
quarriable slate deposit was reported to have been found about 26 km from 
Fremantle, Western Australia.

112
  Slate was also found at Gundagai, New 

South Wales, but an attempt to exploit it, by Hugh Wilson of Redfern, proved 
a failure.

113
   

 
In Victoria three clay slates were submitted in the building stone competition 
of 1858,

114
 and others were shown at the 1861 Exhibition, including a 

flagstone cut from a 4.2 x 3.0 metre slab, by Roberts & Sons of Barkers 
Creek, though the best slate was from Beechworth.

115
  A most unusual pair of 

stone buildings at Barkers Creek near Castlemaine have (or had) roofs 
covered in rectangles of slate about 14 to 16 millimetres thick and up to 1.4 
by 1.26 metres in area,

116
 which are doubtless a by-product of the Roberts 

quarry.  They are typologically closer to the 'stone slates' of laminated 
limestone used in parts of England than they are to slate roofing.   
 
Ultimately the biggest slate merchant was to be the firm established in 1867 
by Thomas Wilson and Isaac Corben.  They subsequently took over a local 
quarry at Castlemaine, and in 1875 took over the Malmsbury Stone Cutting 
Works.  By 1882 they employed two huindred hands and had opened a 
Sydney branch.

117
  Wilson, Corben & Co's Catlemaine quarry was easily the 
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biggest producer of slate in Victoria, though the material does not have a 
pronounced cleavage, and should arguably be described as a stone rather 
than slate.

118
  It does not appear to have ever been used for roofing. 

 
In 1887 slates from the quarry of  McKenzie Thornton & Co, near Maldon, 
came onto the market, and were reported to have a good colour but be 
somewhat friable,

119
  which doubtless explains why no more is heard of them.   

In 1888 the Festiniog Slate Company Limited (named after the famous 
quarries in Wales) was formed to exploit the Kara Kara quarries at Percydale 
near Avoca, hitherto owned and worked by Spence & Co.  It was claimed to 
produce blocks 5.4 metres and more in length, as well as roofing slate equal 
to the best Welsh.

120
  If little more is heard of it, this may be more attributable 

to the depression of the 1890s than to any defect in the product. 
 
Enamelled slate, which was used extensively, will be discussed below. Plain 
polished slate was often used for higher grade bathroom fittings such as 
cisterns and lavatory basin tops.  Ordinary grey slate was commonest, but 
other types were used, as at the Commercial Bank of Australia headquarters, 
Melbourne, of 1890-3.  The building was priced on the basis of either 
Castlemaine or Percydale (Kara Kara) slate - two Victorian types - for certain 
bath tops and bathroom skirtings.

121
 

 
 

f. local marble 
 
George Clewett of Pitt Street, Sydney, was credited with being 'the first to 
introduce into the Australian drawing-room (and that at a considerable cost) 
the ornamental luxury of marble chimney-pieces, the product of the colony',

122
 

and Major Mitchell reported in 1838 that a quarry of crystalline variegated 
marble had been opened near the Wondilly and a few miles from Towrang, in 
consequence of which most houses in Sydney now had marble 
chimneypieces, tables &c.

123
  This must have been the marble which had 

been  recently discovered at Marulan, two hundred kilometres southwest of 
Sydney, the limestone from which has already been mentioned.  In 1835 
Clewett supplied eight chimneypieces for Lyndhurst Hall, three of which were 
Australian, one in the dining room being 'An Australian Ceyenna [Siena] 
chimney piece with columns mouldings and carved blockings' (though it would 

                                                 
118

 Australasian Builder & Contractor's News, 9 July 1887, p 138. 
119

 Australasian Ironmonger, 1 August 1887, p 223. 
120

 Street & Co Limited, Prospectus of the Festiniog Slate Company, Limited (Melbourne, 
no date [1888]), copy held by Ken Bethell. 

121
 G W Blackburn, 'The Commercial Bank of Australia Limited New Premises, &c' [bill of 

quantities] (Melbourne 1890), p 22.  The Kara Kara slate quarries of W B Spence were 
at Percydale:  Australasian Builder & Contractor's News, 31 August 1889, p 196.   
However, at the Centennial Exhibition there were distinct exhibits from W B Spence & 
Co of the Kara Kara Slate Quarries, and from the Percydale Company, with an address 
in Melbourne:  Centennial International Exhibition, Melbourne, 1888-1889, Official 
Record (Melbourne 1890), p 633. 

122
 Sydney Herald, 20 April 1837, in Dyster, Servant and Master, p 107. 

123
 Mitchell's Expedition into Australia (1838), II, p 318, quoted in Baker, Building and 

Ornamental Stones, p 12. 



3.07  Earth and Stone: Stones:  June 2014 3.07.16 

 
 

be difficult to identify Marulan with Siena marble).
124

  Marulan marble was 
also used at 'Barcom Glen' near Darlinghurst (demolished)

125
 and in 1835 for 

mantelpieces at Camden House, Camden.
126

  
 
In the State Savings Bank, Sydney, completed in 1928 the dadoes were of 
'Australian Sienna' and 'Sienna' marble, probably the same stone, though 
forner was described as brown and grey and the latter 'flecked with purple 
and reddish tinge'.  This came from Rylestone near Mudgee and was a 
variety of Cudgegong marble, Hundreds of square metres were were cut from 
a single block, including about forty square metres required for one counter 
alone.    In the same building two marbles from Burenore, one red and one 
pearly grey, were used around the lifts, and were there were pilasters of a 
greyish-green marble, origin unspecified.

127
 

 
By 1851 marble had been discovered at Maria Island, Van Diemen's Land, 
and was shown at the International Exhibition, London.

128
 Marble was to be 

found at a number of locations in South Australia, and by 1858 large 
quantities were being shipped to the South Australian Company's wharf in 
Melbourne.

129
  The most important source was the Carrara Quarry at 

Kapunda, which supplied the exterior facing for Parliament House.
130

  The 
Kapunda Marble and Building Company successfully tendered for the building 
at £102,000, and carried out the foundations and the granite basement, after 
which a dispute arose between them and the architect about the method of 
measuring, with the result that the government terminated the contract.  The 
new contractors were Shaw & Co, who still used the Kapunda quarries, but 
experienced great difficulty in getting blocks large enough for the pilasters.  At 
the 'Villa Alba' in the Melbourne suburb of Kew, Kapunda marble was used in 
about 1884-5 for the hall floor, the bath, and the pantry shelves.

131
 

 
In Victoria the Orbost marble was said to be 'very beautiful', but it was not 
readily accessible.  In the contract for the Melbourne Public Library (c 1909-
13) it had been intended to use it if possible, but because of the large quantity 
required it was thought prudent to specify only 'Australian' marble.  The 
contractors, naturally, proposed to use cheaper interstate marble, which 
caused an outcry,

132
 and ultimately the local material was used.  Queensland 

types included a rather strident black and white marble from Ulam, near 
Gladstone, which was used in the dining room at Tattersall's Club, Brisbane, 
in 1939.

133
  

                                                 
124

 Dyster, Servant and Master, p 107. 
125

 Baker, Building and Ornamental Stones, p 13. 
126

 Baker, Building and Ornamental Stones, p 84. 
127

 Building, 22 December 1928, pp 60, 61-2. 
128

 Baker, Building and Ornamental Stones, p 13. 
129

 South Australian Register, 25 November 1858, quoted in Jensen, Colonial Architecture 
in South Australia, p 14 . 

130
 Australasian Builder & Contractor's News, 24 November 1888, p 462;  1 June 1889, p 

508.  See also Jack, Building Stones of South Australia, pp 48-9. 
131

 Table Talk, 26 June 1885, p 4. 
132

 Building, 13 March 1911, p 19. 
133

 Building, 23 December 1939, pp 22-3. 



3.07  Earth and Stone: Stones:  June 2014 3.07.17 

 
 

 
 

g. imported flagging and slate 
 
Hearths were commonly of sandstone, and might be imported, depending 
upon the stone locally available in the colony concerned.  In Victoria a 
specification of the 1850s calls for hearths of 'approved freestone',

134
 which 

implies importation, and that more probably from Britain than from the 
neighbouring colonies.  At 'Pontville', Doncaster. a house of the 1840s, has 
been found three hearths of some sort of hard limestone which must have 
been imported to the site with considerable difficulty at a time when there 
were no proper roads. 
 
Another aspect of the British connection is the familiarity of the settlers with 
standard British stones, so that quantities of York, Arbroath and Caithness 
flagging were imported to Australia before it was found that local quarries 
could supply paving of a similar character.

135
  The York stone was obtained 

from carboniferous beds in various parts of Yorkshire, and was known for its 
size, hardness and toughness.  Brown, Rusby & Booth of Sheffield were the 
main producers, and received an honourable mention at the Great 
Exhibition.

136
  In 1842 flagstones, probably of this material, were imported for 

paving the Anglican church at Fremantle.
137

  In 1855 the Royal Engineers 
used York stone in the south wing of the Fremantle Gaol,

138
 just as they had 

used it as the standard paving in the galleries of their barracks in the West 
Indies in the 1820s.

139
  York stone was also used in the trafficked areas in G 

Block of the Victoria Barracks, Melbourne, in 1857,
140

 and in 1858 the council 
of Emerald Hill, near Melbourne, imported ten thousand square feet [930 m2] 
of it for footpaths.

141
  The same stone, or something very like it, appears in 

buildings by the Victorian Public works Department, as in the portico of the 
Kilmore Court House, of 1863.   
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Flagging from Aberdeen is supposed to have been imported for a Melbourne 
shop in 1851,

142
 and the Melbourne City Council used Caithness stone for 

street paving in 1858
143

 and called tenders for Arbroath flagging in 1859.
144

  
The Caithness flags were extracted from the old red sandstone or Devonian 
series, particularly at J Sinclair's Forse-Rockhill Quarries, six kilometres to the 
west of Thurso,

145
 and they were regarded as excellent in quality.

146
  At 

Angus, east of Arbroath, a large quarrying industry in the Lower Sandstone 
had developed by the late seventeenth century, but it expanded greatly in the 
nineteenth  century with the introduction of cutting, planing and sawing 
machines.

147
   

 
A red sandstone flagging thought to be that of Caithness or Arbroath, is found 
at half a dozen Victorian houses or terraces of the 1850s and 1860s.

148
 

Nothing is known in a Arbroath today of a red stone, but both the Carmyllie 
and Caithness stones belong to the Devonshire or Old Red Sandstones, and 
it seems that red stone was extracted in the area in the nineteenth century.  
At the Great Exhibition  W F L Carnegie of Kinblethmont, Arbroath, showed 
flagstones from the Leysmill quarries; from Lord Panmure's quarries at 
Carmyllie; Baxter's Balgaries Quarries;  Watson Carnegy's Balmashanner 
Quarries, and Piersson's Gaynd Quarries, together with other stone including 
the 'old red sandstone shales'.  All of the flagging was said to be 'known as 
the Arbroath pavement',

149
 and it must correspond with the material referred 

to in Australia as Arbroath stone.  In 1854 a railway was opened between 
Carmyllie and Arbroath, and by 1859 it was carrying 150 tonnes of stone a 
day.   
 
However most modern references to stones from these locations refer to 
green, grey, greyish blue and similar hues, and the flagging now quarried at 
Carmyllie is reported to be green.

150
  Modern attempts to obtain red 

sandstone flaggingbfro Arbroah have been unsuccessful,
151

  and  Marieke 
Steuben, who has made enquiries on my behalf, reports that Arbroath Abbey 
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and much of the town is built of red sandstone, and her photographs show a  
colour range from purplish red rreddish brown, which resembles that of the 
paving in Australia  But, as Steuben reports, the slate paving in Arbroath itself 
is not red, and indeed the red sandstone appears soft and unsuitable for the 
purpose.

152
  It may well be that a hard stratum suitable for paving was 

dscovered at a time when the colonial market was receptive, but was 
exhausted within a few years. 
 
There were proposals to import slate houses during the gold rushes,

153
 and it 

seems that some arrived. Similarly slate slabs were used for the complete 
structure, walls and roof, of a court house at Umzinto in Natal, South Africa, 
though this appears to have been of local slate.

154
  Other small quantities of 

slate slabs came from Britain, probably for uses such as urinals and billiards 
tables.  In 1853 slates were imported for use in the fireproof flooring system 
of the Sydney Mint, as will be discussed below, and throughout the century 
slate was frequently used for damp-proof courses in brick and stone walls. 
 
The great majority of imported roofing slates were of the blue Welsh type, 
principally from Bangor, where the Penrhyn and Dinorwic quarries were 
regarded as the best.

155
  Slate was also produced by  the Oakely Slate 

Quarries Co at Festinog.  Other Welsh slates were those of Portmadoc, 
where there were said to be some excellent, but also some very inferior 
quarries.  Green slates came from Westmorland, Cumberland, and Whitland 
Abbey in Pembrokeshire.

156
   

 
It is not clear when imported roofing slates reached the older colonies, but 
they must have been fairly readily available by the 1830s.  In February 1840 
3,300 Welsh roofing slates reached Adelaide on the John, for the roof of the 

Quaker meeting house,
157

 though slate was soon being extracted locally.  In 
Melbourne slate was used in 1840 on the Bank of Australasia and the 
Customs House.

158
   Bangor purple countess slates were specified for a roof 

in 1890, 'laid to a 4" lap and double nailed with compo nails to 3 x 11/2 [76 x 
38 mm] battens',

159
 and Bangor also produced a pink slate, which was 

specified for a Melbourne house in 1891.
160

  The Penrhyn slate was shown at 
the Sydney and Melbourne exhibitions of 1879 and 1880 by the London 
agents, Previte & Greig.

161
  Greave's Portmadoc slate probably reached 
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Australia rather later than the Bangor types, but by the 1880s it could be 
reported that shipments received at Sydney and Melbourne had proved very 
reliable.

162
   

 
Late in the nineteenth century two or three colours might be deliberately 
mixed for decorative effect, usually of American types, though green slate 
from Cumberland is not unknown.  A warning issued by the Australasian 
Builder & Contractor's News in 1887 that 'The American and Italian slates 

which come to the colonies should be avoided at any cost' went unheeded.  
The American slates were said to be brittle and to change colour, while the 
Italian slates, which had come to Melbourne, were commonly cross-grained, 
and would snap across the middle after fixing, in addition to which the top 
layers would rot away and the colour change to whitish.

163
  Vermont green 

slate from the United States was used to roof the Australian Property & 
Investment Co building, Melbourne,

164
 and on the Presbyterian church in the 

suburb of Hawksburn,
165

 both in 1889.  Towards the turn of the century the 
Vermont slate became increasingly popular,

166
 and was used, for example, to 

roof the Bairnsdale Court House, Victoria, of 1892-4,
167

 and J H Moir's 
building in Perth of 1896-7.

168
 

 
 

h. imported stone 
 
The importation of freestone was somewhat unusual, but in 1854 two blocks 
of Caen stone, for sculptors, were advertised in Melbourne.

169
  This was the 

stone from Normandy which had been extensively used in England since the 
Norman Conquest, both for general building purposes and for carving.  
Whether the productg of these two blocks or not, at the Victoria Industrial 
Society Exhibition of 1858 Henry Apperley showed sculptures, and Samuel 
Longley a 'Gothic time piece', both carved in Caen stone

170
   R G Thomas's 

Stow Memorial Church, Adelaide (now the Pilgrim Church), of 1865-7, 
likewise has quatrefoils of Bath limestone and porch capitals of Caen 
stone.

171
  In 1859 Bath stone was being advertised in Melbourne in blocks of 

thirteen to fourteen cubic feet [0.37 - 0.40 cubic metres],
172

 and Bath stone 
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was later used in the Auckland High Court, New Zealand.
173

  Lion limestone 
from the United Kingdom was used in the 1936-9 wing of Parliament House, 
Adelaide.

174
 

 
In 1854 a Melbourne firm offered for auction two granite building fronts which 
had arrived from Hong Kong.  Each was about thirty feet [9 m[ wide and thirty-
three feet [10 m] high, of white granite, elegantly designed, elaborately carved 
and highly polished, under the direct supervision of a European architect.  
They were said to be 'in the most chaste and perfect taste' and suitable either 
for public establishments or private houses.  Sixty-five tonnes of granite slabs 
were offered for sale at the same time.

175
  Not much granite seems to have 

arrived over the next two decades, but Peterhead red granite was used in the 
upper façade of the Union Bank, Melbourne, in 1878.

176
  In 1889 it was 

reported that the giant blocks of granite used in the Australia Hotel, Sydney, 
including base blocks weighing ten tonnes each, were supplied by 
Macdonald, Field & Co of Aberdeen, and the same firm had supplied the 
polished shafts of red Peterhead granite of a similar weight.

177
  Aberdeen 

granite columns were used in the arcaded gallery of the residential entrance 
to the E, S & A Bank in Melbourne, of 1883-7.

178
  Polished red Aberdeen 

granite colonettes, supplied by the North of Scotland Granite Company of 
Peterhead, were used in J H Moir's building, Perth, in 1896-7,

179
 and in J Q 

Bruce's Citizens Life Assurance Co building (later  Electra House), King 
William Street, Adelaide, in 1901.

180
   

 
Marble was imported extensively for small works like chimneypieces, 
monuments and altars, mainly from Italy.  In the drawing room at Elizabeth 
Farm, Parramatta, is a grey marble chimneypiece to which Elizabeth 
Macarthur referred in 1832 as having been brought out 'several years since', 
whilst two further chimneypieces, in the dining room and a bedroom, were 
brought from Europe by her son James in 1831.

181
  In 1833 the Agnes 

brought 'two packages of marble slabs' to Sydney as part of a cargo from 
China.

182
  These were probably the blue clouded marble paving tiles, about 

300 mm square, obtained north-west of Canton and exported not only to 
Sydney but to India and South America.

183
  In New Zealand the first marble 

chimneypiece was reported to be one imported in about 1850 for a house in 
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Wellington,
184

 but by 1851 Charlotte Godley was also able to report a small 
black marble chimneypiece at Mrs Brittan's house near Christchurch.

185
  By 

1855 Oswald Bloxsome's house in Sydney had a drawing room mantelpiece 
of Italian marble.

186
  Edmund Westby of Melbourne advertised chimneypieces 

in statuary, veined, white dove, Lumachelle and Kilkenny marbles.  
Occasionally imported marble was used for conventional architectural 
purposes.

 187
 At 'Como' in Melbourne, even the kitchen has a black and white 

marble floor, which dates from before 1864 and must necessarily have been 
imported.   
 
Sienese marble, so often imitated in scagliola, marbleising and wallpaper, 
was used in its genuine form in Lloyd Tayler’s Bank of South Australia 
Building, Adelaide.

188
  Cipollino marble was used in the ground floor cladding 

of Red Cross House, Adelaide;
189

  Carrara marble and green Italian granite in 
the cladding of the Prudential Building, with arebascato and rosa alpina 
marble interior panelling;

190
  and travertine cladding and rosa alpina panelling 

in the A M P Building of 1934-6.
191

  C H James's Empire Building in Collins 
Street, Melbourne, had a 'noble' staircase made of Sicilian marble, except for 
the balustrade of the best rough royal, all 'specially imported'.

192
  Not far away 

the same stone was used not only for the staircase, but for a bath top, 
lavatory top and skirting in the best bathroom of the Commercial Bank.

193
  

Red Spanish marble shafts were used in the façade, and French marble in 
the dado of the hall, at the Melbourne Stock Exchange of 1889-91.

194
 

 
Greek marbles, are rarely mnentioned in Australia though they were on the 
market in Europe: rosso antico from Damaristica and Cynopolis agate-breccia  
from Xilokeratia, porphyrite from Crocea, cipollino from Pyrgari in Lageia, 
breccia from theTygetus, amygdaloidal marble from Parori (Sparta), marbles 
and breccias from Nauplia, red marbles from Cape Tænarus, green marbles 
from Tænus, black marble of Laconia and Mantineia, and alabastroidal 
marble from the island of Psythalia (Piræus).

195
 

 
In Sydney one Monsieur T Geruzet, presumably an importer, submitted a 'fine 
sample of polished Pyrenees marble' for the inspection of the New South 
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Wales Institute of Architects in 1888.
196

  Adams's Marble Bar, built in 1893 to 
the design of Varney Parkes, was a particularly lush and publicly accessible 
marble interior, and since the demolition of the hotel in 1969 it has been 
reconstructed within the Hilton Hotel.  Another form of marble, 'Teurab Marble 
Mosaic tiles', was available in Melbourne from Barnett Brothers in 1889,

197
 

but no example has yet been identified. 
 
In 1859 the Victorian Government apparently proposed to import Italian 
marble for the Parliamentary Library.  The stonemasons objected to this, and 
gained considerable public support, during which it was even alleged that 
there was a conspiracy between the architect, J G Knight, the responsible 
minister, Gavan Duffy, and the Pope.

198
  The report ultimately produced by 

Charles Pasley and J G Knight gave short list of stones suitable for 
Parliament, consisting of Carrara marble, English Portland stone, and the 
new stone from the Darley quarries,which had been rushed to Melbourne that 
morning.

199
  Knight subsequently suggested the use of the admittedly coarse, 

but perfectly sound Adelaide marble, in the hope that this would be more 
acceptable: 

 
as no semi-political demonstration has ever been made against the 
importation of thousands of tons of stones which have been brought 
over from Van Diemen's Land (though the getting of freestone from a 
penal colony would seem to be almost as infectious a thing as importing 
Catholicised marble) ...

�
 

 
In the final event, however, and to the relief of Victorian patriots, the local 
freestone was used, as discussed above. 
 
 

i. the intercolonial trade 
 
As between the Australasian colonies the trade in Oamaru stone was 
undoubtedly the most significant.  This was a limestone of a very sound and 
consistent quality which became a major item of export from New Zealand.  
There were about ten quarries around Oamaru, only one of which, Parkside, 
is operating today.

200
  A finer quality white limestone was got from the Mount 

Somers quarries, inland from Ashburton on the South Island, and from the 
same area a pink limestone, which was often used in conjunction with the 
white.

201
  Presumably these were the white and pink 'Pacific Portland' stones 
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from New Zealand reported to be used for the façade of the Empire Building 
in Melbourne in 1888.

202
   

 
Oamaru stone was largely unknown outside its immediate neighbourhood 
until 1866, when it began to reach Dunedin, where Otago University was 
built.

203
  It was then used in Adelaide by the 1870s,

204
 and later in St Peter’s 

Cathedral and in the Norwood house of the contractor J Jude.
205

  However in 
1887 there was a somewhat triumphant report that, whereas Oamaru stone 
had previously been imported, the new Bank of New South Wales at the 
corner of North Terrace and King William Street was being faced with Finniss 
Creek freestone on a base of Victor Harbor granite,

206
 both local materials 

(the freestone being from near Strathalbyn).  
 
In Melbourne some of the first Oamaru stone was used for the Bank of 
Australasia, Collins Street, in 1874, and came specifically from Round Hill.

207
  

Oamaru stone was used also for the façade of the Union Bank in 1878,
208

 the 
interior of Wilson Hall, Melbourne University, of 1879-82,

209
 the dressings at 

Ormond College in 1880,
210

 and (combined with Pyrmont sandstone) the 
façade of Record Chambers, Collins Street, of 1887-8.

211
  The specification 

for the National Mutual Life Association building in 1890 called for 'approved 
New Zealand stone' in the vestibule ceiling, but specified capitals and 
moulded shaft bases in 'Omaroo' or Mt Somers freestone.

212
  Oamaru stone 

was listed as a standard item in Mayes's pricebook of 1883.
213

  
 
In Sydney Oamaru stone was used for the interior of St Mary's Roman 
Catholic Cathedral,

214
 and the façade of an office building for A J Adams in 

Phillip Street, of 1887,
215

 and it was almost certainly the 'white and light stone 
from New Zealand' which J H Hunt unsuccessfully proposed for the vaulting 
of Christ Church Anglican Cathedral, Newcastle, in 1882.

216
  In Brisbane the 

stone was used for the columns and carved work of the National Bank of 
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Queensland building, by F D G Stanley in 1881-5,
217

 at the house 
'Cumbaqueepa' and at 'The Mansions' in George Street, both by the emigré 
Melbourne architect G H M Addison, and for the spire of the Albert Street 
Wesleyan Church in 1889.

218
 

 
Conversely, Sydney sandstone was exported in small quantities first to New 
Zealand,

219
 and then to Melbourne during the later 1830s and the 1840s, for 

special purposes such as steps, lintels and porticoes, though there is 
insufficient evidence to distinguish it from Tasmanian imports over the same 
period.  Within New South Wales itself - though virtually a separate colony - 
Boydtown imported Pyrmont stone not only for the sills and lintels of the 
Seahorse Hotel in 1843, but for the complete structure of the tapering square 
lighthouse tower built in 1846.

220
  In 1879-82 a 'hard durable stone from 

Sydney' was used for the exterior of Wilson Hall, Melbourne University.
221

  
One would assume that this was Pyrmont stone, but for the fact that in 1883 
the façade of the Tangye Bros warehouse in Collins Street was said to be the 
first use of the material in Melbourne.

222
  

 
This was followed immediately by the façade of the E S & A Bank 
headquarters in the same street.

223
 Here William Wardell had been awarded 

the commission despite ignoring the conditions of the competition, as 
reported in the British Architect: 

 
Stone being costly, it was necessary that its use should be economical 
to the greatest extent;  terra cotta, or some such material, being 
substituted for the general framework, and intermediate surfaces being 
plated with mosaic or tilework, so as to produce an artistic effect at 
moderate expenditure.

224
 

 
The bank was followed by the façades of Record Chambers, as mentioned 
above, the Melbourne Stock Exchange,

225
 and the National Mutual Life 

Association in 1890.
226

 Sydney sandstone continued to be marketed in 
Melbourne in  the twentieth century.

227
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In Adelaide white Sydney sandstone was used in the superstructure of the 
Savings Bank, Adelaide,

228
 the Bank of Adelaide,

229
 and the Jervois Wing of 

the Public Library, in 1879-84;  the Mitchell Building of the University of 
Adelaide, 1879-81;  the Art Gallery of South Australia, 1900 & 1936;  and the 
string courses of Bonython Hall, 1933.

230
  Unspecified Sydney sandstones 

were used in both the Savings Bank
231

 and the Bank of Adelaide 
headquarters in Adelaide, of 1879, where the body was of brown stone and 
the dressings of 'white'.

232
  As in Melbourne, Sydney stone continued to be 

marketed in Adelaide through much of the twentieth century.
233

 
 
In the twentieth century the Hawkesbury and Bondi sandstones were 
exported.  Hawkesbury stone was used in 1930-31 for the mullions and 
tracery of St Paul's Anglican Church at Tai Tapu, New Zealand, together with 
(and more surprisingly) a base of Victorian granite. The architect was Cecil 
Wood, but the choice of Australian stones was because the church was a 
memorial to the Australian born Lady Jessie Cooper.

234
  Bondi sandstone 

was used at Goldsborough House, Adelaide, of 1935,
235

 and Bowral granite 
was also used in the plinth.

236
  'Saunders' Sydney Stone', advertised in 1934, 

was probably the traditional Pyrmont type, though named for the supplier, 
Robert Saunders of Sydney.

237
   New South Wales marbles were also 

exported, that from Borenore being used in the chamber of the Melbourne 
City Council.

238
 

 
The South Australian Willunga slate, already mentioned, was exported as 
flags and slabs even after its poor reputation as a roofing material caught up 
with it. Later it reappeared as an apparently satisfactory roofing material.  In 
1858 James McMeikan & Co of Melbourne were stocking South Australian 
slate,

239
 and as Charles Mayes said, 'an inferior slate is imported here from 

Willunga, South Australia'.
240

  By 1925, when there were three companies 
quarrying the material, it was said that the flagstones had acquired a bad 
reputation for scaling.  Flagging was now produced only by selecting from the 
thick layers of uncleaved slate which were found sporadically, whilst the 
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predominant thin-bedded slate was used exclusively for roofing.
241

  The 
Mintaro Flagstone Quarry was floated as a public company in 1889, with a 
capital of £10,000.

242
  By 1914 the Mintaro Slate and Flagstone Co, as it had 

become, was exporting slate extensively to Melbourne and was planning to 
open a branch in Sydney.

243
 

 
We have seen that a Hobart Town hearthstone was exported to California in 
1850, and during the 1850s Tasmanian stones were imported to Victoria not 
only for hearths and flagging but, more rarely, for the facing of prominent 
buildings.  In 1854 Huxley & Parker of Melbourne had for sale 'superior 
Hobart Town hearths',

244
 and the Victorian Colonial Architect  specified, for 

the erection of three iron houses in 1854, 'Hearth stones of 3 inch Hobart 
Town Stone rubbed on the face', and a 'landing the size of Verandah to be 
formed of 3 inch Hobart Town Stone rubbed on the face and edged.'

245
 The 

first of the major buildings was Melbourne University, which used stone from 
Pitfield's quarry at Kangaroo Point

246
 (now the Hobart suburb of Bellerive):  

Louisa Meredith saw it when on a visit from Tasmania to Melbourne, and 
remarked 'verily they have need of gold mines in Victoria'.

247
    

 
Other stones exported from Tasmania were a 'New Kangaroo Point Stone' 
and the Point Ventenat stone, from Bruni Island.

248
  In 1867 J E Calder 

reported that there was little activity in the export of Tasmanian flagging or 
building stones,

249
 but in 1872 an unspecified 'white stone from Tasmania' 

was used in the façade of Farmer's Store in Sydney.
250

  It was probably the 
fine white sandstone of the Prossers Bay quarry which, Louisa Meredith 
observed in 1879, had been used for the Town Hall (in part), the Post Office 
(in part) and the new Law Courts in Melbourne.

251
  Spring Bay stone from 

Hobart, which is seemingly the same thing, was used for the principal's house 
at Trinity College, completed in 1872,

252
 and was one of three stones 
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considered in 1874 for the new Bank of Australasia in Collins Street.
253

  It was 
listed by Mayes in 1883 as a standard export to Melbourne.

254
  In 1889-91 a 

white Tasmanian limestone was used for the capitals in the public hall of the 
Melbourne Stock Exchange.

255
 

 
Farmer's Store, Sydney, of 1873, designed by J H Hunt, was sort of epitome 
of Australian building stone, for apart from the Tasmanian stone already 
mentioned, it used Sydney sandstone, Goulburn white and grey granite, white 
granite from Ballarat, and Victorian bluestone.

256
  In fact it  used both Ballarat 

and Melbourne bluestones, the former for the footings and the latter for the 
pedestals in the façade,

257
 for Melbourne exported its basalt fairly extensively.  

In 1879 the Sydney City Council first passed, and then rescinded, a resolution 
requiring Melbourne bluestone to be used for street paving, as it was 
regarded as the best material available.

258
 The Sydney General Post Office, 

at least in the 1887 extension, had Melbourne bluestone paving in the 
colonnade.

259
   

 
However, in 1888 Sydney's humiliation seemed to have ended, for Loveridge 
& Hudson opened a trachyte quarry at Bowral, producing as material 'far 
preferable to Melbourne bluestone'.

260
  A specimen was described as being 

free from honeycomb and vents, and able to take a polish equal to any 
Scottish or Australian granite.

261
  In 1889 the New South Wales Railways 

decided to use bluestone rather than sandstone as ballast on their tracks, but 
were able to obtain this from Kiama and Newcastle rather than Melbourne.

262
  

Somehow, however, Melbourne bluestone kept on coming, and in 1888-9 a 
complete entrance porch of the material was added to the Congregational 
Church at Petersham, New South Wales, to the design of John B Spencer.

263
   

 
Purported Footscray (Melbourne) bluestone was used in the Colonial Mutual 
Life Assurance Building, Launceston (complete in 1887), not only for the 
base, but to form patterns in the gable, in alternation with Ross stone.

264
  In 

South Australia there one or two cottages of basalt at Port Wakefield,
265

 and 
'a substantial base of Melbourne bluestone was used in the Australian 
Widows' Fund Assurance Company building in Grenfell Street, Adelaide, of 
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1887.
266

  Twelve thousand tonnes of bluestone pitches were used to pave the 
pig yards at the Pooraka stock market (designed by the Melbourne architect 
C A D'Ebro in 1913).

267
  Some Harcourt granite was also imported to 

Adelaide, where it is reported to have been used in part of the cladding of 
Chalmers later Scots) Church,

268
 presumably an addition to the original 

building of 1850-1;  in the consulting rooms at 206-7 North Terrace (later the 
John Martin building) of 1901;  and in the ground floor of Bagot's building.

269
   

 
In 1896, remarkably enough, a deputation of masons to the Premier of 
Western Australia, Sir John Forrest, asserted that nearly all the stone used 
for ornamental work on buildings in the colony was imported from Melbourne, 
and argued that there should be a protective duty levied upon such imports, 
so as to foster the development of local resources.  The situation seems 
remarkable, given Victoria's relative paucity of building stones, but it is true 
that bluestone was still extensively exported, and by now Stawell freestone 
was available.  Most architects in the west at this time were Victorian emigrés, 
and tended to specify the materials to which they had been accustomed when 
in Melbourne.  An interesting example is J H Moir's building at the corner of St 
George’s Terrace and Barrack Street, of 1896-7.  It was at first going to be 
dressed in Oamaru stone, but as built the dressings were in cement, while the 
base of the building was 'of massive wrought and Moulded Malmsbury 
[Victoria] bluestone'.

270
 It is presumably this material,  though reported as 

'Malmesbury', which forms the plinth of the Te Aro branch of the National 
Bank in Wellington, New Zealand, of 1917.

271
 

 
Ornamental stones were naturally the most transportable, notably the 
marbles.  Borenore marble from New South Wales was used in the 
Melbourne City Council chambers,

272
 Caloola marble in the Queen Victoria 

statue, St Kilda Road.
273

  In the twentieth century Angaston marble from 
South Australia was exported to Melbourne and Perth for monumental work 
and stone slabs, and a large quantity was sent to London for use in the 
interior of Australia House.

274
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